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DAVID B. BARLOW, United Stztes Attorney (UT Bar # 13117)
Sandra L. Steinvoort, Assistant United States Attorney (UT Bar # 5352)
District of Utah

185 South State Street, Suite 300

Salt Lake City, Utah 84111

Telephone: (801) 325-3233

Facsimile: (801) 524-6924

E-mail: Sandra.Steinvoort@usdoj.gov

HEIDI K. HOFFMAN, Trial Attorney
U.S. Department of Justice
Environmental Enforcement Section
Denver Place Towers

999 18" Street, Suite 370 South Terrace
Denver, CO 80202

Telephone: (303) 844-1392

Facsimile: (303) 844-1350

E-mail: heidi.hoffman@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for the United States of America

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH, CENTRAL DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, COMPLAINT
Plaintiff,
v.

Judge: Brooke C. Wells

IVORY HOMES, LTD.,

Defendant.

Civil Action No: 5-14-cv-0046 BCW
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The United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the
United States and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request of the
Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”™),

files this Complaint and alleges as follows:

NATURE OF THE CASE

1. This is a civil action for injunctive relief énd civil penalties brought
pursuant to Section 309(b} and (d) of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”™), 33 U.S.C. §
1319(b) and (d), against Ivory Homes, Ltd. (“Ivory Homes”) for failure to comply
with the conditions of a permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33
U.S.C. § 1342, for the discharge of pollutants in storm water from construction
sites, in violation of Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).

2. Authority to bring this civil action is vested in the United States
Department of Justice by 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519, and in the Administrator of
the United States Environmental Protection .’Agency by Section 309(b) aﬁd (d) of

the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and (d).
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355, as well 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).

4, Venue is proper in the District of Utah pursuant to 33 U.S.C.
§1319(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1395, because the events giving rise to this
action arose within this judicial district, and because Ivory Homes conducts
homebuilding activities in this District.

DEFENDANT

5. Ivory Homes is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of
Utah and is a “person” as defined in 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) and 40 C.F.R. § 122.2.

6. Ivory Homes owns and/or operates approximately 110 construction
sites in Utah. Ivory Homes has its primary place of business in Utah.

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

7. Congress enacted the CWA to “restore and maintain the chemical,
. physical, and biological integrity of the nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).

8. To accomplish the objectives of the CWA, Section 301(a), 33 U.S.C.
§1311(a), prohibits the “discharge of any pollutant” by any person except in certain

circumstances, including in compliance with the National Pollutant Discharge




Case 2:14-cv-00460-BCW Document 2 Filed 06/23/14 Page 4 of 22

Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit issued pursuant to the CWA Section 402,
33 US.C. § 1342,

9. Clean Water Act Section 502(12), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), defines the
term “discharge of a pollutant™ as, inter alia, “any addition of any pollutant to
navigable waters from any point source.”

10.  Clean Water Act Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), requires a permit
for storm water discharges associated with industrial activity.

11. EPA regulations define the term “storm water discharge associated
with industrial activity” to include storm water discharges from construction
activities, including clearing, grading, and excavation activities, that result in a
disturbance of five or more acres of total land area, 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(x).
Construction activity also includes the disturbance of less than five acres of total
land area that is part of a larger common plan of develoﬁment or sale if the larger
common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than five acres. 1d.

12. EPA regulations also define the term “storm water discharge
associated with small construction activity’.’ to include storm water discharges from
construction activities, including clearing, grading, and excavation activities, that
result in a disturbance of equal to or greater than one acre and less than five acres.
40 C.F.R. §122.26(b)(15)(i). Construction activity also includes the disturbance of

less than one acre of total land area that is part of a larger common plan of
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development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or
greater than one acre. Id.

13.  In 1992, EPA issued a Final NPDES General Permit for Storm Water
Discharges from Construction Activities (“Federal CGP”). 57 Fed. Reg. 41176,
41209 (September 9, 1992). EPA has, on various occasions, subsequently
modified and reissued the Federal General Permit. See 63 Fed. Reg. 7858-7906
(Feb. 17, 1998); 63 Fed Reg. 36490-36519 (July 6, 1998); 65 Fed. Reg. 25122-
25145 (Apr. 28, 2000); 68 Fed. Reg. 39087-39091 (July 1, 2003); 73 Fed. Reg.
40338-40343 (July 14, 2008); and 77 Fed. Reg. 12286 (Feb. 29, 2012).

14.  Pursuant to 402(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), EPA may
authorize a state to implemens its own NPDES storm water permitting program for
discharges into navigable waters within its jurisdiction so long as the state program
meets the federal requirements set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 123. The State of Utah is
so authorized by EPA and has issued its own NPDES general permits governing
the discharges of storm water associated with construction activity.,

15.  On September 18, 2002, the State of Utah Deparfment of
Environmental Quality, Division of Water Quality (“UT DWQ”) issued a Storm
Water General Permit for Construction Activities within the State of Utah. See

Permit No: UTR100000. On July 1, 2008, the UT DWQ issued another Storm
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Water General Permit for Construction Activities within the State of Utah. See
Permit No: UTR300000.

16.  These general permits establish conditions for the discharge of storm
water associated with constructionlactivities, including clearing, grading, and
excavating, into waters of the State of Utah. See Permit No. UTR100000, Part V;
Permit No UTR300000, Part V. The general permits require a facility to apply for
coverage under the general permit by submitting a Notice of Intent (“NOI”) along
with the required permit fees. See Permit No. UTR100000, Part I.D.; Permit No
UTR300000, Part 1.D. Once the application is certified by the applicant’s
signature, a facility is authorized to discharge in accordance with the terms of the
permit. Id.

I7.  Though they differ in some of the details, in general, under the general
permits, any person subject to the permit is required to develop a storm water
pollution prevention plan (“SWPPP”). See Permit No. UTR100000, Part IIT;
Permit No UTR300000, Part I11. SWPPPs set forth a plan to control and reduce
pollutants in storm water discharges from construction activities. See Permit No.
UTR100000, Part II1.D.; Permit No UTR300000, Part III.D. The SWPPP must
meet specific requirements and include certain information, including a description

of the control measures to meet effluent limits in the general permits. Id.
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18. A central requirement of the SWPPP is the selection of best
management practices (“BMPs™). Id. Best Management Practices are measures
implemented to prevent or reduce the discharge of pollutants to waters of the
United States, including preventing erosion (such as the scheduling of the project
to minimize the amount of land that is being graded at any particular time) and
capturing sediment before it leaves the site (such as silt fences and sedimentation
basins). Id.

19.  The general permits require the permittee to comply with all
conditions set forth therein, including implementing the SWPPP and properly
operating and maintaining the BMPs. See Permit No. UTRlOOOOb, Part V.A,;
Permit No UTR300000, Part V.A.

20.  The general permits impose additional requirements, including, inter
alia: inspection of the site during construction; maintenance of the SWPPP and
sometimes other records at the site; and final stabilization of the site followed by
termination of permit coverage. See Permit No. UTR100000, Parts I.E., II.C. and
D., IV.A.; Permit No UTR300000, Parts LE., I1.C. and D., IV.A.

21. The United States is authorized to enforce NPDES general permits
issued by states under Section 309(a)(3) and 402(i) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§

1319(a)(3) and 1342(i).
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22, Additionally, Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b),
authorizes the Administrator of EPA “to commence a civil action for appropriaté
relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction,” when any person is in
violation of 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1318, or of any permit issued pursuant to Section
402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

23.  Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), provides, in part,
that any person who violates Section 301, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, or any permit issued
pursuant to Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, shall be subject to a civil penalty not to
exceed $27,500 per day for each such violation occurring between January 31,
1997 through and including March 15, 2004; $32,500 per day for each violation
occurring March 16, 2004 through and including January 12, 2009; and $37,500
per day for each violation occurring after January 12, 2009. 33 US.C. § 13 19(d);
40 C.F.R. Part 19.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

24.  For the five sites addressed in this Complaint, Ivory Homes obtained
permit coverage for each site prior to July 1, 2008; thus, Ivory Homes was required
to comply with the terms and conditions of Permit No. UTR100000, hereinafter
referred to as the “Applicable Permit” at the time of EPA inspections conducted in

May 2008.
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25.  EPA conducted inspections at five Ivory Homes sites in May 2008.
During these inspections, EPA discovered a pattern of failures to comply with the
requirements of the Applicable Permit for the discharge of storm water from Ivory
Homes construction sites. The five sites and their violations are discussed in more
detail below.

Cclony Point (Lehi, Utah)

26. A Notice of Intent (“NOI”) for storm water discharge from the Colony
Point site was filed with the State of Utah by Ivory Homes on April 23, 2008.

27, Ivory Homes was issued permit certification number UTR 110078 for
coverage under the Applicable Permit, effective April 23, 2008 through April 23,
2010, for the 66-acre site which covered Colony Point for storm water discharges
into the Jordan River via a drainage pipe located on the southwest side of the
development.

28.  The site was inspected on May 19, 2008.

29.  Violations identified were the following: inadequate SWPPP, missing
BMPs, BMPs not properly implemented and/or maintained, and other deficiencies
including failure to update SWPPP/site map and failure to conduct inspections at
the required frequency and/or to maintain site inspection reports. The EPA
inspectors observed sediment build-up in gutters and storm drain inlets at this site,

which was a result of inadequately implemented and/or maintained BMPs.
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30. These violations are failures to comply with the terms and conditions
of the Applicable Permit,

Cranberry Farms (Lehi, Utah) .

31.  AnNOI for storm water discharge from the Cranberry Farms site was
filed with the State of Utah by Ivory Homes on March 23, 2005.

32.  Ivory Homes was issued permit certiﬁcation number UTR 104194 for
coverage under the Applicable Permit, effective March 23, 2005 thfough March
31, 2009, for the 54-acre site which covered Cranberry Farms for storm water -
discharges into the Jordan River. The storm water for the site discharges through a
drainage pipe to a nearby ditch, which then flows into the Jordan River.

33.  This site was ir:spected on May 19, 2008.

34.  Violations identified were the following: inadequate SWPPP, missing
BMPs, BMPs not properly implemented and/or maintained, and other deficiencies
including failure to update SWPPP/site map and failure to conduct inspections at
the required frequency and/or to maintain site inspection reports. The EPA
inspectors observed sediment build-up on streets, in gutters and storm drain inlets,
and debris and garbage in the outfall to the ditch on the south of the site
approximately 200 feet upstream of the Jordan River, which were the result of

inadequately implemented and/or maintained BMPs.
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35. These violations are failures to comply with the terms and conditions
of the Applicable Permit.

Orchard Park (Lindon, Utah)

36.  An NOI for storm water discharge from the Orchard Park site was
filed with the State of Utah by Ivory Homes on January 15, 2006.

37.  Ivory Homes was issued permit certification number UTR 104984 for
coverage under the Applicable Permit, effective January 15, 2006 through May 15,
2008, for the 27-acre site which covered Orchard Park for storm water discharges
into an existing Lindon City storm drain system. Ivory Homes was later issued
permit certification number UTR 110095 for this site for coverage under the
Applicable Permit, effective April 25, 2008 through May 16, 2010.

38.  The storm water from the site discharges from a pipe to a detention
pond located in a Lindon City park. The discharge from the detention pond flows
through the Lindon City storm drain system into Utah Lake.

39. This éite was inspected on May 19, 2008.

40.  Violations identified were the following: inadequate SWPPP, missing
BMPs, BMPs not properly implemented and/or maintained, and other deficiencies
including failure to update SWPPP/site map and failure to conduct inspections at

the required frequency and/or to maintain site inspection reports. The EPA




Case 2:14-cv-00460-BCW Document 2 Filed 06/23/14 Page 12 of 22

inspectors observed sediment build-up in gutters and streets, which was a result of
inadequately implemented and/or maintained BMPs.

41.  These violations are failures to comply with the terms and conditions
of the Applicable Permit.

Bellvue Phase 3&4 (Draper, Utah)

42.  An NOI for storm weter discharge from the entire Bellvue site was
filed with the State of Utah by lvory Homes and co-permittee, Hadco Construction,
Inc. (“Hadco”), on April 23, 2005.

43.  Ivory Homes and Hadco were issued permit certification number
UTR104003 for coverage under the Applicable Permit, effective April 23, 2005,
for the 50-acre site for storm water discharges into Corner Canyon Creek, which
flows east into the Jordan River via a manmade irrigation canal on the Bellvue
development. |

44.  Ivory Homes was later issued permit certification numbers
UTR1 10045, effective April 21, 2008, and UTR 110461, effective June 13, 2008,
representing various stages of development of the site.

45.  This site was inspected on May 21, 2008.

46. Violations identified were the followiﬁg: inadequate SWPPP, missing
BMPs, BMPs not properly implemented and/or maintained, and other deficiencies

including failure to update SWPPP/site map and failure to conduct inspections at

12
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the required frequency and/or to maintain site inspection reports. The EPA
inspectors observed sediment build-up in gutters and streets, which was a result of
inadequately implemented and/or maintained BMPs.

47.  These violations are failures to comply with the terms and conditions
of the Applicable Permit.

Bellvu.e Phase S (Draper, Utah)

48.  An NOI for storm water discharge from the Bellvue Phase 5 site was
filed with the State of Utah by Ivory Homes on May 23, 2007.

49.  Ivory Homes was issued permit certification number UTR 107499 for
coverage under the Applicable Permit, effective May 23, 2007 through May 23,
2009 (and later amended to ¢xpire on April 27, 2011), for the 12-acre site for storm
water discharges into Corner Canyon Creek, which flows east into the Jordan River
via a manmade irrigation canal on the Bellvue development.

50.  This site was inspected on May 21, 2008.

51.  Violations identified were the following: inadequate SWPPP, missing
BMPs, BMPs not properly implemented and/or maintained, and other deficiencies
including failure to update SWPPP/site map and failure to conduct inspections at
the required frequency and/or to maintain site inspection reports. The EPA
inspectors observed evidence of an unauthorized non-storm water discharge of

pollutants which, upon inforination and belief, was a white paint stain running

13
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through and including March 15, 2004; $32,500 per day for each violation
occurring March 16, 2004 through and including January 12, 2009; and $37,500
per day for each violation occurring after January 12, 2009, including any other

violations that may occur in the future.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States of America respectfully requests that this
Court:

A.  Order Ivory Homes to comply with the terms of the CWA and the
conditions of the Applicable Permit at its construction sites by requiring, among
other things, the development and implementation of appropriate SWPPPs, the
application of BMPs to minimize or eliminate discharge of pollutants from its sites,
and the implementation of corporate policies designed to achieve and assure
compliance with the Applicable Permit and the Act;

B.  Assess civil penalties against Ivory Homes of up to $27,500 per day
for each such violation occurring between January 31, 1997 through and including
March 15, 2004; $32,500 per day for each violation occurring after March 16,
2004 through and including january 12, 2009; and $37,500 per day for each
violation occurring after January 12, 2009, including any other violations that may

occur in the future;
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